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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN

	Complainant
	:
	Mr P D Hoy

	Scheme
	:
	J V Investments Limited Pension Scheme

	Respondents
	:
	Mr Wiltshire (Former Trustee)

	
	
	Mr Harman

Mr Forse
	))
	(together the Trustees)

	
	
	Eversheds Pension Trustees Limited (Independent Trustee)


THE COMPLAINTS (dated 30 April 1999)

 AUTONUM 
When the Scheme wound-up pursuant to the insolvency of J V Investments Limited (the Company) and BPM Limited, the Scheme had a non-preferential claim against the Company in the sum of £536,364.

 AUTONUM 
Mr Hoy made the following complaints to this office against the Former Trustee and the Trustees:

(i)
that the decision taken by the Former Trustee and/or the Trustees (as appropriate) to make loans of £250,000 (including the variation of the terms of that loan), £100,000 and £83,579.53 was not in the members’ best interests;

(ii)
that no appropriate action was taken by the Former Trustee and/or the Trustees (as appropriate) to ensure that the loans were repaid when the Company was in financial difficulty; 

(iii)
that no appropriate action was taken by the Former Trustee and/or the Trustees (as appropriate) to ensure that interest (amounting to £83,826.48) for the period between March 1993 to December 1996 was paid in respect of the loans; and

(iv)
that the Former Trustee and the Trustees (as appropriate) allowed there to be unpaid member contributions in the sum of £18,718.03 for the years ending 1 June 1993 to 1 December 1995 plus £240 of members’ Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) in respect of October and November 1995.

BACKGROUND

 AUTONUM 
The Scheme was established with effect from 1 June 1974 and is governed by trust deed and rules dated 9 September 1986 as amended from time to time (the Definitive Deed).  

 AUTONUM 
With effect from July 1992, pensioners’ and deferred members’ benefits were purported to have been bought with Norwich Union Life Insurance Society (leaving approximately 6 active members).  But, because of an ongoing dispute with Norwich Union, the buy-out process was not completed.  

 AUTONUM 
The business was initially known as Bristol Packaging Machines Limited.  In 1986, Mr Harman purchased it and formed two new companies, J V Investments Limited - a holding company - and BPM Limited – a manufacturing subsidiary.  

 AUTONUM 
On 19 December 1995 Touche Ross and Peter Thurston were appointed as administrative receivers to both companies.  
On 23 December 1995 the Company and on 5 January 1996 its subsidiary went into administrative receivership.  On 30 October 1996, the Independent Trustee, was appointed to the Scheme.  Mr Harman and Mr Forse, appointed as trustees some years earlier, remained trustees. 

 AUTONUM 
A statement of affairs of the Company dated 7 May 1996, sworn by Mr Harman, stated that non-preferential claims in respect of the Scheme amounted to £536,364.  The Trustees provided the receivers with details of how that amount was comprised (the Schedule), ie loans @ £ 433,579.53, interest payments @ £83,826.48, member contributions @ £18,718.03 and £240 AVCs.  

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUES

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees and the Former Trustee challenged my jurisdiction on the ground that complaint (i) as it relates to the making of the loan in 1988 for £250,000 was out of time under the Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) Regulations 1991.  Following a preliminary investigation and the exchange of correspondence on this point I considered that this part of the complaint was made in time.  

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees further suggested that I did not have jurisdiction to deal with Mr Hoy’s complaint on the basis that he would have not suffered any loss but for subsequent acts of the Independent Trustee.  I disagree (even assuming the statement to be true, which is in any event disputed by Eversheds).  When a complainant brings a complaint of maladministration he must show injustice.  Injustice is incurred when a member suffers a reduction in his benefits but also when he suffers a reduction in the security of benefits and is deprived of the opportunity of benefit increases (see Hillsdown Holdings plc v Pensions Ombudsman [1997] 1 All ER 862).  This means that, regardless of any other act which may have caused Mr Hoy’s benefits to decrease, I may still investigate the current complaint.  Even if this is disputed, I see no reason why the above complaints could not be brought as disputes of law where it is not necessary to show injustice.  In any event, it is open to Mr Hoy and/or the Trustees (in their capacities as members) to make a complaint to my office against the Independent Trustee if they consider this appropriate.  

FORMER TRUSTEE

 AUTONUM 
On 4 August 1988 the Former Trustee was appointed to act as trustee.  He resigned with effect from 30 September 1992.  His resignation did not comply with the requirements under the provisions of the Scheme.  However, on the facts of this case, I consider it reasonable to rely on the maxim of equity, ie ‘equity treats as done that which ought to have been done’.  The Former Trustee’s resignation was and is not disputed by the parties.  

 AUTONUM 
Accordingly, I make no findings in respect of the Former Trustee in respect of those acts or omissions occurring after his resignation.

MATERIAL FACTS

Loans for £250,000, £83,000 and £150,000

 AUTONUM 
In 1988 the Former Trustee and the Trustees made a loan in the sum of £250,000 from the Scheme.  The events leading up to that loan were as follows.  On 2 August 1988 the Scheme actuary confirmed that in his opinion, if the Scheme were to make a loan of £250,000, members’ benefits would not be prejudiced.  On 3 August Hogg Robinson Financial Services Limited (Hogg Robinson) wrote to the Company stating 

“I think that the trustees should formally ask the Company for a statement of why, what at first sight would not appear to be the best investment for the trustees, is nevertheless in a broad sense having regard to the interest of the Company and its employees as well as the members of the Scheme, a good investment.” 

I have seen no record of the statement.  

 AUTONUM 
On 4 August 1988 the Scheme’s and Company’s auditor, then known as Deloittes Haskin Sells (Deloittes) advised the Former Trustee and the Trustees that for a secured loan they would expect them to look for a rate of interest of at least 11% (½% over the then current base) but, for an unsecured loan,  

“they would expect the [trustees] to look for a higher rate of return, such as 13 ½% per annum which would be typical of the rates of return expected by the clearing banks and other financial institutions in respect of unsecured lending”.  

The Former Trustee and the Trustees considered making an unsecured loan.  Trustee minutes dated 4 (and 12) August state that they considered that 1½% above base rate and not 3% was appropriate for the unsecured loan, having taken into account that the Company group would provide financial information, the loan agreement provides annual interest rate reviews and a distress provision, employment prospects would be enhanced by it and it was a long-term investment in an acquisition which was well established and considered low risk.  I have seen no written record of Deloittes (or Hogg Robinson) being consulted in this regard.  

 AUTONUM 
On 6 August 1988 the Former Trustee and the Trustees entered into a loan agreement with the Company which provided that the loan would be repaid on 4 August 1993 or such earlier date on the occurrence of specified events.  

 AUTONUM 
On 14 March 1989 the Former Trustee and the Trustees noted that the loan agreement provided interest at 1.5% above the base rate or at a rate agreed between them and the Company at the variation date 1 August 1989.  The Former Trustee and the Trustees 

“agreed that the maximum interest rate that would be applied to the loan would be 13.5% per annum until the next variation date in August 1990”.  

I have seen no written record of Deloittes (or Hogg Robinson) being consulted in this regard.  

 AUTONUM 
Subsequently, the Trustee and the Former Trustee proposed changing the repayment date.  On 13 June 1990 Deloittes prepared a letter of comfort for them confirming that £797,000 was available as security for the loan.  On 14 June 1990 Hogg Robinson advised that, assuming that a second floating charge in exchange for varying the repayment date provided adequate security for the £250,000, it saw no reason why the Trustees and the Former Trustee should not agree to the variation.  A draft letter on the file required that the Company should give prior notification to the Former Trustee and the Trustees of any increase of its borrowings or the creation of any fixed charge.  On 7 August 1990 the Trustees and the Former Trustee signed a letter agreeing to the variation in exchange for a second floating charge (without reference to notification requirement).  In the event, the loan was never secured by such a floating charge.  I have seen no written record of Deloittes being consulted in this regard.  

 AUTONUM 
In 1992 Hogg Robinson advisers were replaced with Fenchurch brokers.  The Trustees explained that with the membership having reduced, they changed advisers for reasons of costs and taking into account that an employee of Hogg Robinson had moved to Fenchurch.  

 AUTONUM 
For the year ending 31 May 1991 and 1992, draft Scheme accounts state that on 28 October 1992 the Company lodged an equivalent short term cash deposit of £250,000 with the Scheme in order temporarily to mitigate the interest charge thereon; that this deposit was later withdrawn in two tranches, the first of £150,000 on 3 March 1993 and the second of £100,000 on 18 June 1993 (1988/1993 Loan); and that payment of interest was resumed on the respective dates.  The Trustees advised that the payments were made to purchase activities at Scunthorpe and Mardon.  I have seen no written record from Hogg Robinson of being consulted about these loan payments.

 AUTONUM 
On 13 December 1994 and 9 June 1995, loans for £100,000 (the 1994 Loan) and £83,579.53 (the 1995 Loan) respectively, were made by the Trustees to the Company.  The loans were unsecured.

 AUTONUM 
The valuation report as at 1 June 1993 (dated November 1994) stated that there were 6 actives, 10 deferreds and 35 pensioners.  The ongoing funding level was 110% and on a discontinuance basis the Scheme’s assets exceeded its liabilities.  The surplus was £93,000.  The Scheme’s surplus was sufficient for the Company to continue its contribution holiday to 1 June 1996.  Assets amounted to £1,212,720 (of which £577,909 comprised deposits with Norwich Union).  Of this amount, £150,000 was invested in a loan to the Company and the balance of this amount was held in cash on deposit or in the Trustees’ account.  The actuary stated

“It is normal for pension scheme assets to be invested in assets which may be expected to provide a real rate of return such as equities.  Real assets are more suitable for the nature of the liabilities, rather than cash or loans to the employer.  The trustees should consider the appropriateness of continuing to be invested in cash or cash equivalent assets.”  (my emphasis).

 AUTONUM 
The valuation report as at 1 December 1996 (dated January 1999) states that the Scheme’s assets are less than the actuarial value of the liabilities - the funding level at 52% (£122,000 shortfall).  The report states that no account was taken for liabilities that may occur in respect of the Norwich Union buy-out. The Scheme’s main asset, a property, was valued at £130,000. 

Interest payments

 AUTONUM 
The Schedule states that interest in the sum of £83,826.48 is due in respect of the period from 3 March 1993 to 19 December 1996.  This amount relates to all the monies loaned.

Members’ contributions and AVCs

 AUTONUM 
The Schedule states that member contributions in the sum of £18,718.03 in respect of the period from 1 June 1993 to 1 December 1996 are outstanding.

 AUTONUM 
The Schedule also states that AVCs of £240 for October and November 1995 are outstanding.

CONCLUSIONS

 AUTONUM 
I have first considered the outstanding interest payments and the member contributions.  For the reasons set out below I make no directions.  At paragraph 34 onward I consider the issue of all the loans together with the alleged failure to recall them.

Interest payments

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees dispute what interest payments have been made.  They referred me to the draft Scheme accounts for the years ending 1991 and 1992 and to Mr Forse’s ‘book keeping accounts’ for the 1993 and 1994.  As the only alleged outstanding interest payments are those from 1993 onwards, I reviewed Mr Forse’s ‘book keeping accounts’ (which are not audited).  These accounts provide that £2,682 and £3,927 were paid for 1993 and 1994 respectively.  Further, payments in August 1994 for £65,000 and for £45,000 in March 1995 were received by the Scheme but it has not been possible to establish if these were interest or capital repayments.

 AUTONUM 
Mr Harman believes the Schedule to be correct whereas Mr Forse does not.  However, I find, for the reasons set out below, that I do not need to consider this further.  

 AUTONUM 
Clearly, the Company acted in breach of its obligations in failing to pay over the accrued interest in respect of the loans.  However, the Trustees had a duty to monitor and review the investments which included ensuring that any investment return, ie rate of interest, was being paid to the Scheme.  The Trustees have submitted that they did ask the Company for the interest payments.  Mr Forse submitted that interest was calculated each month and a schedule was given to the Company.  

 AUTONUM 
I find that, even if the Trustees failed properly to discharge their duties in ensuring that interest was paid, and further that they could not rely on the exoneration provisions in the Definitive Deed, they would also not be liable for any losses.  The basis for this is that I am not satisfied that the loss would not have occurred but for their breach (see Target Holdings Limited v Redferns (a firm) [1996] AC 424).  It is my judgment that the loss occurred primarily because of the Company’s breach, the Trustees’ breach being incidental to the question of loss.

Members’ contributions and AVCs

 AUTONUM 
It has not been possible to establish precisely what contributions remain unpaid.  The Schedule states that £18,718.03 member contributions are unpaid.  The Trustees referred me to the ‘book keeping accounts’ produced by Mr Forse as evidence that contributions for the year end 1993 and 1994 were paid to the Scheme and a paper headed “payment to pension fund 21 June 1994” supports this.  But the figure for year ending 1994 is different in all the documents.  The Independent Trustee noted unspecified credit entries for June 1996 for £2,614.38.  The Independent Trustee advised that approximately £12,500 of outstanding contributions were in respect of the Trustees; and that the insolvency practitioner reimbursed the Scheme for one year’s contributions of £5,449.08 (I have assumed pursuant to sections 123 to 125 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993).  

 AUTONUM 
Assuming that the Schedule is correct, the actual net loss to the Scheme amounts to £768.95 (ie £18,718.03 offsetting £12,500 in respect of the Trustees and £5,449.08 passed on by the insolvency practitioner).  Mr Harman suggests that the deficit be accepted and ignored.  Mr Forse states that, as the Company was effectively in administration for two months prior to receivership, it was not possible to make any payment without the approval of Deloittes.  Mr Harman’s suggestion has no merit and Mr Forse’s submission is incorrect because approval is not a Company issue.  However, as above, I do not need to consider this issue further.  The Company was in breach of its obligations.  The Trustees submitted that contributions were collected when the value was of a reasonable size and Mr Harman stated that he did ask the Company for the contributions.  For the reason set out in paragraph 29 above I do not find the Trustees liable for the losses.  The same reasoning applies even if Mr Forse was considered an administrator for the purposes of my jurisdiction.

 AUTONUM 
I next consider the AVCs.  The Trustees dispute that £240 of AVCs have not been paid.  The Independent Trustee states that monies replaced by the receiver makes no reference to the outstanding AVCs and on checking its files can see no record of this payment having been made although it notes unspecified credit entries for June 1996 for £2,614.38.

 AUTONUM 
For the reason set out above I make no findings against the Trustees.  In any event, the insolvency practitioner should have (if he has not) passed over an amount covering £240 (section 123 to 125 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 does not limit the payment by the Secretary of State for contributions for the twelve months preceding the insolvency to ordinary member contributions).  

The loans

 AUTONUM 
Following a review of the evidence before me, I was minded to make a finding of wilful default against the Trustees in making the loans and the failure to recall them.  I was not minded to make any finding against Mr Wiltshire on the basis that I had found as a fact, which was disputed by the Trustees, that the 1988/1993 Loan was satisfied in 1992 and that the subsequent payments in 1993 constituted fresh loans. Both Trustees were invited to attend an oral hearing but declined.  In October 2000, I issued my preliminary conclusions finding wilful default.  Subsequently both Trustees decided that they wished to attend an oral hearing.  Having regard to the convenience of the parties, the hearing took place on 14 February 2001.  At the hearing I was persuade to adjourn as various factual and legal issues, raised by counsel for Mr Harman, impacted on the question of wilful default and could be better dealt with on paper.  Substantive submissions were subsequently made by Mr Harman and his counsel (adopted by Mr Forse).  On 19 March 1997 the parties were advised that, in the light of these submissions, I was minded to make a finding that there was insufficient evidence to make a finding of wilful default.  Further submissions by the parties were made.  In the light of these and in the interest of fairness to all the parties, having regard to all the evidence and the nature of the wilful default test, I concluded that I could not satisfactorily go to final Determination without holding an oral hearing – in respect of the making of the loans and the alleged failure to recall them.  Having regard to the convenience of the parties the hearing took place on 1 August 2001.

 AUTONUM 
Following the hearing on 1 August and having regard to all the evidence before me I remained not satisfied that there was sufficient evidence to find that the Trustees were guilty of wilful default on any test in making the 1988/1993 Loan (regardless of whether my finding of fact is correct or not) and the 1994 Loan.  This meant that in this respect the Trustees (and Former Trustee) would be protected by the exoneration clause (see below).  As regards failing to call in any of the loans, I consider that it is likely that any request for the loans to be repaid would not have been met by the Company.  In light of all this, I do not propose making any findings of maladministration causing injustice or any directions in connection with the 1988/1993 Loan or the 1994 Loan.

 AUTONUM 
However, I have given more detailed consideration to the circumstances surrounding the 1995 Loan because it appeared to me that a prima facie case might be made that the Trustees acted in wilful default (see the following paragraphs, especially paragraph 63 onwards) and were not so protected.  It is to be borne in mind that this 1995 Loan was the last loan made before the Company went into receivership and, more particularly, that at the time of making it the Trustees were acting with the benefit of knowledge in connection with the other loans.

Exoneration clause

 AUTONUM 
Clause 13 of the Definitive Deed exonerates (and indemnifies) the Trustees from liability in effect for all breaches of duty and trust save for “wilful default”.
 AUTONUM 
Before considering the 1995 Loan I will first consider the Independent Trustee’s submission that clause 13 was not validly adopted, at least as regards the trustees at the time.  It distinguished between the introduction of a clause that will provide protection to future volunteer trustees and introducing a clause for the benefit of existing trustees.  It asserts that it was not a proper exercise of the power of amendment to insert an exoneration clause into the Definitive Deed where none existed before - that power is not granted to enable trustees to benefit themselves.  

 AUTONUM 
Assuming that I have power to strike out clause 13, on the particular facts and circumstances of the case, I do not consider that it has been invalidly adopted.  In Bogg v Raper (1998, 8 April), the Court of Appeal unanimously held that a solicitor, who sought to rely upon an exoneration clause and who had been instrumental in its insertion, was not prevented from relying on it nor did it create a situation where the Court was required to construe the provisions against him (although it would be otherwise if the settler was not made aware of the provision and its effect).  In Governors of Dollar Academy Trust v Lord Advocate [1995] SRT 596, Lord Hope upheld an amendment to the terms of a charity to allow for payment of insurance premiums to cover the trustees out of the charity’s funds.  The cover was for negligence, default and breach of trust or duty but excluded liability for knowing or reckless breach of trust or duty.  The Court of Session considered (inter alia) the statutory relief in the alternative, the willingness of trustees to serve or continue to serve and the nature and scale of their activities.  

 AUTONUM 
In this case, the amendment was effected by both the Company and the then trustees (of which Mr Harman was one).  It was inserted in the context of a deed to replace in its entirety the former definitive deed and rules – presumably to improve the general administration of the Scheme.  I do not consider that the amendment was made for an improper purpose within the general framework of the Scheme.  Nor do I consider that it was unreasonable that the then trustees or future trustees should obtain protection in the performance of their duties - statutory protection being so limited (see Re Vickery [1931] 1 Ch 572).  

 AUTONUM 
More particularly, Mr Forse (and Mr Wiltshire) were appointed as trustees after execution of the Definitive Deed.  There is no evidence to suggest that either trustee had any reason to doubt the validity of the provisions of the Deed.  Accordingly, it would be unjust and unreasonable to make any directions that effectively set aside clause 13, particularly if both individuals accepted appointment on the basis of that protection being in place.

Case law

 AUTONUM 
The leading case on the meaning of wilful default is Re Vickery [1931] 1 Ch 572 where Maugham J construed the words as meaning a “consciousness of negligence or breach of duty, or a recklessness in the performance of a duty”.  Much more recently, in Armitage v Nurse [1998] Ch 241, Millett LJ said that wilful default meant “a deliberate breach of trust” and that to establish wilful default “nothing less than conscious and wilful misconduct is sufficient”.  Referring to Re Vickery, he said

“The trustee must be conscious that, in doing the act which is complained of or in omitting to do the act which it said he ought to have done, he is committing a breach of duty or is recklessly careless whether or not it is a breach of his duty or not…A trustee who is guilty of such conduct either consciously takes a risk that loss will result, or is recklessly indifferent whether it will or not.  If the risk eventuates he is personally liable.  But if he consciously takes the risk in good faith and with the best intentions, honestly believing that the risk is one which ought to be taken in the interests of the beneficiaries, there is no reason why he should not be protected by an exemption clause which excludes liability for wilful default.” 

 AUTONUM 
The test of honesty in Armitage appears subjective but Millett LJ did not consider the House of Lords decision in Royal Brunei Airlines v Tan [1995] 2 AC 378.  Lord Nicholls said (in the context of knowing assistance and constructive trusts) in Royal Brunei Airlines that an objective test of [dis]honesty is to be applied

“… in the context of the accessory liability principle acting dishonestly, or with a lack of probity, which is synonymous, means simply not acting as an honest person would in the circumstances.  This is an objective standard.  At first sights this may seem surprising.  Honesty has a connotation of subjectivity as distinct from objectivity of negligence.  Honesty, indeed does have a strong subjective element in that it is a description of a type of conduct assessed in the light of what a person actually knew at the time, as distinct from what a reasonable person would have known or appreciated….However, these subjective characteristics of honesty do not mean that individuals are free to set their own standards of honesty in particular circumstances.  The standard of what constitutes honest conduct is not subjective.  Honesty is not an optional scale with higher or lower values according to the moral standards of each individual.  If a person knowingly appropriates another’s property, he will not escape a finding of dishonesty simply because he sees nothing wrong in such behaviour.” 


Under the heading “Taking Risks” Lord Nicholls said

“All investment involves risk.  Imprudence is not dishonesty, although imprudence may be carried recklessly to lengths which call into question the honesty of the person making the decision.  This is especially so where the transaction services another purpose in which that person has an interest of his own.  This type of risk is to be sharply distinguished form the case where a trustee, with or without the benefit of advice, is aware that a particular investment or application of trust property is outside his powers, but nevertheless he decides to proceed in the belief or hope that this will be beneficial to beneficiaries or, at least, not prejudicial to them.  He takes a risk that a clearly unauthorised transaction will not cause loss.  A risk of this nature is for the account of those who take it.  If the risk materialises and causes loss, those who knowingly took the risk will be accountable accordingly.” 

 AUTONUM 
In Walker v Stones [2001] 2 WLR 623, Sir Christopher Slade, giving the only full judgment said that, whilst there is a difference of emphasis between the judgments in Royal Brunei Airlines and Armitage, as far as they relate to the concept of dishonesty they were not irreconcilable and that he could see no grounds for applying a different test of honesty in the context of a trustee exemption clause from that applicable to the liability of an accessory in breach of trust.  With regard to Millett LJ’s dictum on a trustee’s honest belief he said

“I think it most unlikely that he would have intended this dictum to apply in a case where a solicitor-trustee’s perception of the interests of the beneficiaries was so unreasonable that no reasonable solicitor-trustee could have held such a belief”.

 AUTONUM 
Sir Christopher Slade restated the proposition - “at least in the case of a solicitor-trustee” - that honest belief would not be found where a trustee’s perception of the interest of the beneficiaries was so unreasonable that, by an objective standard, no reasonable trustee-solicitor could have thought that what he did or agreed to do was for the benefit of the beneficiaries.  He explained that he limited the proposition to trustee-solicitors because on the facts he was only concerned with a trustee-solicitor and because he accepted that the test for honesty may vary from case to case depending on the role and calling of the trustee.  Lord Justice Nourse and Lord Justice Mantell agreed with his judgment without adding anything of their own.

 AUTONUM 
In Mortgage Express Limited v S Newman & Co (a firm) (The Solicitors Indemnity Fund limited, Pt 20 defendant) [2001] All ER (D) 08 (Mar), Etherton J said

“It is now well established that dishonesty, in the context of civil liability, embraces both a subjective and an objective element.  The well known statement on this issue is that of Lord Nicholls in Royal Brunei Airlines v Tan … The inter-relationship between the objective and subjective standards can produce both conceptual and practical difficulties.  I was referred, for example, to … Walker v Stones…”

Etherton J considered Sir Christopher Slade’s dictum, and said that he did not consider that Sir Christopher Slade could have been intending to abolish the critical distinction between incompetence and dishonesty – that incompetence, even if gross, does not amount to dishonesty without more.

 AUTONUM 
Counsel for Mr Harman submitted that it is for the Complainant, Mr Hoy, to demonstrate actual (ie conscious) dishonesty.  He also made the following submission.  The case in question is one where the Trustees made investment decisions within their powers.  In any event the decision in Walker v Stones is particularly confined to solicitor trustees.  It is evident that Sir Christopher Slade was leaving the door open for the test to be applied to other professional trustees (for example accountants), not lay trustees, and referred me to the use of the words role and calling.  Mr Harman’s counsel also referred me to Etherton J’s comments that Etherton J did not think that Sir Christopher Slade could have been intending to abolish the critical distinction between incompetence and dishonesty and submitted that the reference in Walker v Stones to a reasonable solicitor trustee, was not therefore intended to equate dishonesty with gross incompetence, let alone mere negligence.  If Sir Christopher Slade intended to impose any form of “objective” test on lay trustees, it is clear, he submitted, that “reasonable” in this context must mean some other, lower standard of behaviour than negligence (with which it is usually associated).  If any higher objective test was intended, he argued, then this must be confined to solicitor and other professional trustees.  He explained that, in reaching its decision, the court must take into account all the circumstances such as the role and calling of the trustee.

 AUTONUM 
I will deal firstly with the burden of proof, ie the question of who bears the onus of satisfying me that on the particular facts the exoneration clause does or does not apply.  Not much was made of this by the parties but, in passing, at the hearing I was asked to consider it.  The case law in this area is far from clear – although there is case law suggesting that the burden of proving that trustees fall within section 61 of the Trustee Act 1925 is on the trustees (ie to show that they have acted honestly).  I consider that where the test of wilful default is satisfied by the trustees’ exclusive knowledge (subjective test) and where members not being volunteers but having given valuable consideration for their rights will suffer the losses resulting from the trustees’ breach, the trustees should bear the burden of proof.  But I do not need to resolve the issue.  Having investigated the complaint in accordance with my statutory powers and considered the evidence, regardless upon whom the onus lies of discharging the initial burden of proof, I was satisfied that there was a prima facie case to answer.  This was sufficient in my judgment to place  an onus on the Trustees

 AUTONUM 
Dealing with counsel’s second submission, again this area of law is not straightforward.  I do not consider that the proposition suggested by Sir Christopher Slade is necessarily limited to solicitor trustees so that, depending on the case, the test becomes objective.  In this case I consider that the Trustees are persons such that they would fall within the objective test.  The subject of scrutiny is the making of a loan from the Scheme funds to the Company, at its behest, by individuals who were experienced directors, holding it appears the most senior positions in the Company, who had continuous knowledge of the Company’s financial circumstances.  The transaction in question was a familiar one to them and they were aware of the key issues and considerations that should be taken into account when making such a transaction (see paragraphs 12 to 16).  The underlying facts call out for enquiry.  As businessmen they may not be well versed in the nuances of legal obligation and professional propriety, but as trustees with fiduciary duties they were aware of their special responsibilities and their obligation to ensure that they or their agents were so versed in connection with the making of any transaction.  The responsibility and duty of trusteeship had been taken on by Mr Harman since 1986 (if not earlier) and by Mr Forse since 1988.  The evidence is that they had substantial experience and knowledge of trust affairs (see paragraphs 12 to 16 and 62).  Both asserted throughout the hearing that they appreciated that their fiduciary position required them to consider the interests of the members.  There is no characteristic or lack of experience on the part of Mr Harman and Mr Forse to suggest that the standard of honesty to be expected of them was other than that to be expected of a reasonably prudent and honest trustee.  Neither individual pleaded lack of experience as a ground for their actions or belief.  This paragraph should be read with paragraph 70 below (nature of the test).  

Breach of trust?

 AUTONUM 
Clause 6 (Investment of the fund), sub-paragraph (10) of the Definitive Deed provides that the Trustees had power to make loans (with or without security) at such commercial rates of interests and upon such commercial terms as they shall in their absolute direction think fit.  

 AUTONUM 
I first consider whether there has been a breach of trust by the Trustees in making the 1995 Loan.  Paragraphs 50 to 62 should be read in conjunction with paragraphs 63 to 94.

 AUTONUM 
In Cowan v Scargill [1985] Ch 270, where the trustees had very wide powers of investment, Megarry V-C said the starting point is the duty of trustees to exercise their powers in the best interests of the present and future beneficiaries of the trust, holding the scales impartially between different classes of beneficiaries.  This duty of the trustees towards their beneficiaries is paramount.  When the purpose of the trust is to provide financial benefits for the beneficiaries, as is usually the case, the best interests of the beneficiaries are normally their best financial interests.  In the case of a power of investment, the power must be exercised so as to yield the best return for the beneficiaries, judged in relation to the risks of the investments in question; and the prospects of the yield of income and capital appreciation both have to be considered in judging the return from the investment.

 AUTONUM 
Meggary V-C said that the standard required of a trustee in exercising his powers of investment is that he must take such care as an ordinary prudent man would take if he were minded to make an investment for the benefit of other people for whom he felt morally bound to provide.  That duty includes the duty to seek advice on matters which the trustee does not understand, such as the making of investments and, on receiving that advice, to act with the same degree of prudence.  This requirement is not discharged merely by showing that the trustee has acted in good faith and with sincerity.  Honesty and sincerity are not the same as prudence and reasonableness.  Some of the most sincere people are the most unreasonable.  Although a trustee who takes advice on investments is not bound to accept and act on that advice, he is not entitled to reject it merely because he sincerely disagrees with it unless, in addition to being sincere, he is acting as an ordinary prudent man would act.  Deliberately not taking advice is a reckless breach of trust.

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees made the 1995 Loan without security, with a capped interest rate (see paragraph 77), without terms, at a time when there was £350,000 of unsecured loans from the Scheme together with, from March 1993, outstanding interest payments thereon (but see paragraph 26).  Additionally, since March 1993, basic member contributions were not being passed from the Company to the Scheme.  

 AUTONUM 
When making the 1995 Loan, the Trustees did not seek any advice – this is not disputed.  They did not seek advice from Deloittes in respect of the prudence of making the loan and explaining that it would be unsecured.  They did not seek advice about what rate of interest should be applied, the terms of payment and the conditions of repayment.  They did not seek advice from the actuary about the Scheme’s funding position on securing members’ benefits (cf paragraphs 82 and 83 below).  

 AUTONUM 
They did not seek advice about the need for diversification of investments of the Scheme or to the suitability to the Scheme of investment of the description of the investment proposed and of the investment proposed as an investment of that description.  The evidence is that the Scheme assets were excessively concentrated in Company loans.  

 AUTONUM 
In the actuarial valuation as at June 1993 (see paragraph 20 above) the actuary suggested that the Trustees should consider the appropriateness of continuing the Scheme’s assets to be invested in cash or cash equivalent assets.  The Scheme surplus was £93,000.  Assets amounted to £1,212,720 of which £577,909 comprised deposits with Norwich Union, £150,000 was invested in an unsecured loan to the Company and the balance was held in cash on deposit or in the Trustees’ account.  By June 1995, a property at Scunthorpe had been purchased for £130,000 but a further £200,000 of unsecured loans to the Company had been made.  Mr Harman explained that he rejected the actuary’s advice to invest in equities (see paragraph 20), on the basis of the 1987 stock market crash (when, but for his decision to disinvest the Scheme funds therein, they would have been severely depleted).  Rather confusingly, in addressing questions about why the actuary’s advice was ignored, Mr Forse thought it relevant that the actuary no longer worked for Hogg Robinson, explaining that it was Hogg Robinson upon whom he had placed great reliance at the time.  In any event, notwithstanding the 1987 crash, I do not consider an ordinary prudent man would have ignored the actuary’s advice when considering making the 1995 Loan (or in the alternative have failed to take other steps to diversify).  

 AUTONUM 
Finally, they also made a submission that they had regular contact with the Scheme’s actuary and regularly exchanged information, and that there was no reason or event which indicated that his original advice in 1988, ie that the Scheme could lend up to £500,000, did not still apply several years later.  However, this submission was unsubstantiated and is far from compelling – actuarial surpluses are notional and transient – it is gross negligence to rely on such old information.

 AUTONUM 
Nor did the Trustees appreciate the Scheme membership.  They explained that from 1992 they reasonably assumed that, because of the Norwich Union buy-out (see paragraph 4 above), the membership was approximately 6 active members.  Problems surfacing later were considered technical and soluble.  But the evidence is that they did not take advice about the nature of the Scheme membership and the consequences of the dispute with Norwich Union.  The June 1993 actuarial valuation includes the buy-out members in its membership data and because of the ongoing dispute with Norwich Union the buy-out process remains incomplete (and any liabilities unresolved) - no policy Scheme documentation has been issued in this regard.  

 AUTONUM 
Trustees’ powers must be exercised fairly and honestly for the purposes for which they are given and not so as to accomplish any ulterior purpose, whether for the benefit of the trustees or otherwise (see Hillsdown Holdings plc v Pensions Ombudsman supra).  I find that the Trustees’ exercise of their power to make the 1995 Loan constituted an improper use of the power for a collateral purpose.  

 AUTONUM 
The purpose for which the power was exercised was to make a short term loan from the Scheme to enable the Company to resolve its cash flow problem to allow it to continue trading (see paragraphs 80 and 88).  The power was not exercised to make a Scheme investment but to meet the needs of the Company.  That purpose was well outside the proper ambit of Clause 10(6).

 AUTONUM 
For the reasons set out above, I conclude that there was a breach of trust – the Trustees were guilty of commercially unacceptable conduct.  Their service to the Company was without discrimination or limitation.  Having regard to the test set out in Armitage I am satisfied that the Trustees were conscious that they acted in breach of trust – the basis for this finding (as is clear from paragraphs 12 to 16 and elaborated in the following paragraphs) is that the Trustees were well aware of the duties in exercising their power under clause 10(6).  Indeed the Trustees submitted that 

“the professional advisers/Hogg Robinson … continually reminded the trustees on what their duties were and the relevant aspects of pension law etc”. 

Even, if there was no conscious breach of trust, I find that the Trustees acted recklessly or indifferently.

Wilful default?

 AUTONUM 
Mr Harman (aged 51 at the time of making the 1995 Loan) was an experienced business man.  A managing director, employed in the German business, he was sent to close the UK business (Bristol Packaging Machines Limited) in 1983.  But Mr Harman turned affairs around.  He went to Russia and secured £5 million of orders.  By 1986 he bought the business for a modest sum (approximately £30,000) and formed the Company – owning the entire shareholding.  Mr Harman is an educated bilingual man holding a chemistry degree and a master’s in business administration.

 AUTONUM 
Mr Forse (age 46 at the time of making the 1995 Loan), although lacking professional qualifications, was also an experienced business man rising to the position of ‘accountant’ in 1985 and finance director in 1986.  He produced the accounts for the Company and ongoing cash flow projections.  He had no shareholding in the Company but he had security of employment coupled with a director’s salary (like Mr Harman).

 AUTONUM 
My general impression of Mr Harman was that he was a man of intelligence with a good grasp of affairs and his evidence was clear.  Mr Forse by comparison also has had a good grasp of affairs but I found his evidence was marked by vagueness and some inconsistency, largely because he appeared not to make any serious effort to recall what had actually taken place and why.

 AUTONUM 
At the outset of the investigation  both men had difficulty initially in recalling what loans were made and subsequently believed that they were all secured.  However, they  were consistent that they took the risk in making the loans in good faith and with the best intentions, honestly believing that the risks were ones which ought to be taken in the interests of the beneficiaries.  They believed that, had the loans not been made, the Company would have gone to the wall and the Scheme would have wound-up.  By making the loans, members’ employment prospects were secured and pension benefits were greater than if they had been bought-out in 1992.  

 AUTONUM 
Rather disappointingly, in Armitage Lord Millett did not define what he meant by ‘in the interests of the beneficiaries’.  Is the test satisfied if a person who primarily acts with the intention of benefiting persons who are not objects of the trust but has in mind the interests of persons who are?  Does it make a difference if the latter may benefited in another capacity, ie as employer rather than object of the trust?

 AUTONUM 
A similar set of facts to this case arose in a previous investigation I made, which culminated in my Determination being appealed - Duckitt v Farrand [2000] 19 PBLR (11).  In that case, the trustees, who were also directors of the company, made 5 loans totalling £271,372.56.  The company went into receivership and the loans were irrecoverable.  Lightman J held that the fact that the trustees had throughout an overriding concern for the survival of the company was perfectly consistent with an honest and unintentional breach of trust; it did not establish dishonesty or intentional breach.   

 AUTONUM 
Assuming that the wilful default test is purely subjective as indicated in Armitage, and in the light of Lightman J’s findings in Duckitt, I consider that the Trustees’ position (see paragraph 66) is such that I could not properly make a finding that they acted in wilful default.  However, according to Lord Nicholls’ dicta in Royal Brunei, imprudence may occur so that it recklessly calls into question the honesty of the person making the decisions, especially if a transaction serves another purpose in which that person has an interest of his own.  Accordingly, here the circumstances call into question the Trustees’ honesty on the basis that they had interests of their own.  The Company was entirely owned by Mr Harman, and Mr Forse was reliant on it for continued employment.  Finally, the Trustees’ honesty may be questioned because they failed to ask questions and take advice before making the 1995 Loan (see below).

 AUTONUM 
Although the nature of the objective test in Walker v Stones is in some respects unclear, I consider that there is a distinction between a trustee’s conduct constituting a breach of trust and the belief he held at the time of the breach.  Therefore I do not consider that counsel’s submission as to the standard being lower than negligence (see paragraph 47) to be relevant.  For the reasons set out below, I consider that the Trustees’ perception of the interests of the beneficiaries was so unreasonable that no reasonable trustee could have held such a belief.

 AUTONUM 
I consider that the Trustees were only able to sustain the belief on their part that the 1995 Loan was in the members’ interests because they turned a blind eye and refrained from asking obvious questions; they closed their eyes and ears for fear of learning information they would rather not know, ie that the 1995 Loan was not in the members’ interests - so acting in breach of their fundamental fiduciary duties.  Their belief that they were acting in the members’ interests by making the 1995 Loan was not based on information and understanding having sought advice, but on the simplistic notion that if the Company continued trading this had to be in the members’ interests.  I consider that a reasonable and honest trustee in the Trustees’ position  would have raised questions to assure himself that the 1995 Loan was a proper transaction in the members’ interests. The failure to ask question was dishonest not because it was negligent not to ask but because any honest reasonable trustee would have asked them. That they did not ask questions is not because they did not understand - after all, as I have found, both men had a good grasp of relevant requirements.  

 AUTONUM 
The basis for making this finding is set out below.  I have drawn various inferences from past events.  In particular I have had regard to the making of the 1988/1993 Loan and its variation.  Mr Harman and particularly Mr Forse placed great emphasis on the assertion that they always followed Hogg Robinson’s and Deloittes’ advice – that this was never ignored – that all the decisions and actions taken by them were always accepted by their advisers.  

 AUTONUM 
Having regard to paragraphs 12 to 16 (see also paragraph 77) above, it is clear that some of the suggestions recommended by their advisers were not followed, for example the interest rate and security.  There is no paper trail recording the position after the advice was not followed.  I consider that a reasonable trustee would have assumed that the advice given in 1988/1990 about security and the rate of interest for an unsecured loan would, given the Company’s financial position, be similar (if not more onerous) in 1995.  From this I infer that the Trustees must have known that the transaction was obviously questionable - and yet they did not at any stage ask any questions as an honest reasonable trustee would have done. 

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees explained that, where they did not follow their advisers advice, follow-up telephone calls were probably made to their advisers or documentation from their advisers may be missing from the files; and being a small Company, advice was not always minuted.  These explanations are not substantiated nor do I find them convincing.  

 AUTONUM 
It is not disputed that no advice was taken by the Trustees at the time of making the 1995 Loan (see paragraphs 55 onwards).  Without advice (particularly actuarial advice) how could the Trustees reasonably believe that the transaction was in the members’ interests?  For the 1994 Loan, the Trustees submitted that they did not have time to take advice.  At the hearing I understood this also to be the position for the 1995 Loan.  I do not consider that any reasonable trustee would have been happy to make a decision on that basis.  How long does it take to pick up the phone to an auditor with whom they tell me they had a reciprocal closeness?  Furthermore, seven months had lapsed since the making of the 1994 Loan.  That the Company needed the money at that time may have been unexpected but they were certainly aware that the Company had ongoing cash flow problems.  I consider that a prudent and reasonable trustee would have taken minimum steps to satisfy himself that the 1994 Loan was in the members’ interest (which was not done by the Trustees) and would have taken steps and made preparatory enquiries and satisfied himself in anticipation of the situation arising again - particularly after he was aware that the anticipated full repayment of the 1994 Loan would not be possible (see paragraph 87).  Factoring as an option for raising cash was considered during this period (see paragraph 92) yet the steps I consider a reasonable trustee would have taken were not made.  In the circumstances I do not see how a reasonable trustee have held the Trustees’ belief.

 AUTONUM 
Finally, they explained generally at the hearing that, because their advisers (which I understood them to mean Hogg Robinson, before it ceased acting, and Deloittes – not the actuary – although see paragraph 58) continued to act for the Trustees, the advisers must have been aware of the actual decisions taken but as they did not object this was taken as implicit approval by the Trustees.  Again I do not think that this can really be considered reasonable in any circumstance and more so on the facts.  Reliance on negative advice to validate a belief is precarious and not something I consider that a reasonable trustee would do.  Furthermore, Mr Forse said that unlike the 1994 Loan, where he was certain Deloittes knew of it some time soon after it was made, this might not have been the case for the 1995 Loan.  

 AUTONUM 
I next consider the background to the making of the 1995 Loan.  The Trustees explained that the 1988/1993 Loan and 1994 Loan were made to prevent the Company going to wall; the interest rate in 1988 was not made at the suggested rate so that the Company would not be crippled.  It was considered that the interest rate was unfair on the Company and the Trustees assert that they saw no benefit to members in placing such an excessive financial strain on the Company during a severe recession.  They asserted that the interest rate created a return for the Scheme much higher than it could have realistically achieved from any other similar investments, equities etc (although I note that in the draft 1991 audited accounts for the Scheme states, for example, that £800,000 on the London Money Market via Barclays Bank for a term of two years was yielding a fixed interest rate higher than the return for the 1988/1993 Loan).  Assuming that I understood the Trustees correctly, interest was capped thereafter at the lower rate of 1½% above base rate in respect of all further loans.  As to the issue of security (see paragraph 16) the Trustees said that they tried to obtain security in 1990 but this was not possible - it was felt the most likely reason being that the Company’s bank refused.  Throughout the period to 1995 the Bank held a floating charge over the assets.

 AUTONUM 
So at the time of making the 1995 Loan the Trustees had the benefit of all this knowledge.  The 1995 Loan did not stand alone.  This evidence (and see below also) suggests that the Trustees deliberately pursued a policy of favouring the Company at the expense of the beneficiaries, which arguably is dishonest under the Armitage approach.  They also knew that the Company had not been able to repay the existing loans and interest (although interest payments had been requested – see paragraph 28 above) despite hopeful cash flow projections and at times high order books.  According to documentation produced by themselves, the Scheme had outstanding unsecured loans totalling £350,000 and, from 1993, outstanding interest payments of £40,587.32 together with unpaid member contributions of £15,993.40 - member contributions were not being passed on from the Company to the Scheme despite being asked for (I assume before June see paragraph 31 above).  However, see paragraph 26 above – some payments may not have been accounted for.  

 AUTONUM 
The administrative receiver, describing events leading up to the Company’s demise, referred to draft Company accounts.  For the year ended 31/3/94 losses were £98,000, for the year ended 31/3/95 profits were £139,000 but for 8 months to 30/11/95 losses were £171,000.

 AUTONUM 
Trustees may act in a manner which will best ensure the continuance of the Scheme, for the benefit of both the Company and the members.  The Trustees explained that the primary purpose and motive for making the 1995 Loan (and 1994 Loan) was short term to deal with the Company’s immediate cash flow problem - unlike the 1988/1993 Loan which was considered to be a long term investment.  But the facts (see paragraphs 77 to 94) are such that, by 1995, the Trustees’ belief is so unreasonable that no reasonable trustee could have held it.  The conflict of interest between the Trustees’ fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries and the Company’s interests are glaringly obvious to anyone and yet the transaction proceeded.  The transaction conflicted on its face and in the most obvious way with their fiduciary duties to keep beneficiaries’ interests paramount.  Given the facts I do not accept that a reasonable trustee could have believed that making the 1995 Loan would be in the members’ interests.  In making the 1995 Loan the Trustees specifically intended benefiting the Company, not being the object of the trust, knowing that this would be at the expense of the financial interests of the beneficiaries, if the Company went into receivership. No matter how pure or honest their motives, no reasonable trustee would regard this course as honest. The Trustees have benefited the Company by a decision taken at its behest and not by the exercise of their own independent judgment (see especially paragraphs 86, 87 and 88).

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees did not have up to date actuarial information of members’ benefits on an ongoing and discontinuance basis.  The actuarial valuation at November 1993 recorded the Scheme surplus at £93,000 – but the Scheme’s assets comprised £150,000 by way of loan to the Company.  See also paragraphs 55 onwards. 

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees asserted that as a matter of urgency in 1993 it was necessary to increase and diversify the Company’s activities - so the Company acquired activities in Scunthorpe and Mardon.  The urgency was, I infer, in the Company’s interest and not the Scheme’s.  The Scheme purchased the property at Scunthorpe (the evidence indicates perhaps because of the Company’s need rather than on actuarial advice to diversify).  The Trustees explained that when they purchased the Scunthorpe property in 1993 it was considered that its income was sufficient to meet the likely cost of providing members’ pensions – this being available no matter what may happen to the Company.  They had estimates of rental income in the area and details of the members’ benefits.  

 AUTONUM 
But this submission does not in itself support the Trustees’ belief that making the 1995 Loan was in the members’ interest.  In any event, by 1995 the Trustees were relying on 1993 figures and I consider the reliability of the figures is extremely questionable - they were not produced with actuarial guidance.  Nor is there is evidence that members’ benefits were recalculated in 1995 and updated rental income taken into account.

 AUTONUM 
I am also surprised by comments made to me by the Trustees that taking security would not have made a difference anyway as there were insufficient assets in the Company on receivership.  The sworn statement of affairs estimated surplus for preferential creditors @ £94,420.  In any event, even if this were not so, I do not consider that a reasonable trustee would seriously believe that it was acting in the members’ interests if it made an unsecured loan when the Company to whom the loan was being made was suffering significant financial difficulties and it was believed that the Company’s bank had previously refused security (see paragraph 77).  Objective honesty is not satisfied.  A reasonable, honest trustee would not misapply the Scheme’s assets to the potential detriment of the beneficiaries.  That the Trustees deliberately caused the Scheme to pay monies to the Company which they knew was not justified as a prudent investment is not consistent with innocence, nor with a reasonable belief that the investment was in the members’ interest.  An honest, reasonable trustee would have wanted to safeguard his members’ assets.

 AUTONUM 
I next look more closely at the immediate events leading up to the 1995 Loan.  By 1994, the Trustees were considering three-times weekly cash flow projections produced by Mr Forse.  Both Trustees recognised and appreciated that companies do not fail for reason of lack of profit but because of lack of cash flow.  

 AUTONUM 
The 1994 Loan was made, the Trustees explained, against the background that the Company order book was at its highest of £1.4m but the Company experienced a short term cash flow problem – probably due to firms closing over Christmas and wishing to retain high cash positions.  The Company was at its highest overdraft level and any extension of overdraft would require several weeks to finalise.  There was no time to seek advice so the loan was made – although the Trustees assert that there was time to have lengthy internal conversations about the 1994 Loan.  All expectations were that payments would come but that they were simply delayed.  They stated that everything pointed to the Company experiencing a short term problem which would quickly pass.  They were confident that there was no risk to the members by making this short term borrowing which the Company expected to repay easily in a few weeks.  The period between January to June 1995 was an extremely busy period for the Company.

 AUTONUM 
But in fact by March 1995 the cash flow permitted merely £45,000 to be repaid – such a payment not being received earlier it was considered because of long Christmas breaks experienced by their South African client base - mid December to mid January.  So the short term cash flow problem experienced in December 1994 did not to all intents and purposes ever sufficiently rectify itself.  By March 1995 only a small payment could be made because of cash flow restrictions and by June 1995 the Company need another cash flow injection.  

 AUTONUM 
The reason why a cash flow injection was needed in June 1995 could not be recalled but it was suspected because of high payments for supplies due to a high order book and unexpected delays in delivery and payment.  The Trustees submitted that they were confident with the machine program on hand (particularly the expected delivery of two machines pulling in £150,000) together with an expected strong cash flow over the next few months, so it was considered safe and appropriate once again to make a short term loan – the 1995 Loan.  The expected £150,000 the Trustees calculated would allow the Company to repay the fund the balance of the 1994 Loan and the 1995 Loan.  But the expected £150,000 never materialised due to manufacturing technical problems (not of the Company’s making) which would take several weeks to sort out.  This meant that a cash flow shortage of £60,000 would occur in August.  The Trustees were hopeful and expectant that the Company’s bank would help.  The Company’s bank refused and asked the auditors to assess the Company.  The Company subsequently went into receivership.

 AUTONUM 
The Trustees submitted that the manufacturing technical problems experienced in June 1995 were not new.  They had experienced them before albeit not on the same scale.  So they were aware of this risk and they were also aware that if such problem arose it would have a significant impact on cash flow which they were continuously very worried about.  

 AUTONUM 
Maybe the Trustees saw nothing wrong with their behaviour.  But as experienced businessmen they both confirmed to me that they appreciated that companies fail not for lack of profits but lack of cash.  I do not consider that a reasonable trustee imputed with that knowledge and the facts above could have thought that making the 1995 Loan was in the members’ interests.  The Trustees used their position to protect the financial interest of the Company by deliberately sacrificing the financial interests of the Scheme members.

 AUTONUM 
When asked why the Trustees did not go to the Scheme for the £60,000, Mr Forse could not recall - he thought it would be more logical to ask the Company’s bank.  Mr Harman’s evidence was more helpful.  He explained that because of the technical manufacturing problems the directors knew that the Company had real potential problems and so they did not approach the Scheme.

 AUTONUM 
At the hearing the Trustees asserted that they considered that the bank was always willing to help the Company but that because of the time it would take to authorise any overdraft (approximately 7 weeks) this was too long.  In their submissions in respect of the 1994 Loan they stated “There was no possibility of increasing the bank’s overdraft by £100,000 or certainly not in the time frame”. I am not satisfied that they believed, or that a reasonable trustee could have believed, that the bank would have been willing to help – they provided no evidence supporting this.  Between December 1994 and June 1995 the bank was never approached – although an alternative idea for raising cash, a factoring arrangement, was looked at but was not considered viable.  The overdraft was at its maximum by 1994.  On the first occasion that the bank was approached it refused.  If the loans were to provide security of employment for Scheme members this would imply that the Company was unable to obtain funding elsewhere.  Counsel for Mr Harman suggested that if the Trustees were simply trying to keep the Company going at all costs they would have gone to the Scheme for the £60,000.  That may be so, but that is not what I am considering here.  I consider that the Trustees’ belief that making the 1995 Loan was in the members’ interests was so unreasonable that no reasonable trustee could have held such a belief.  A person may believe his actions are morally justified but may still be dishonest, for example ‘Robin Hood’ type dishonesty.  By analogy, the Trustees may have genuinely believed the transaction (ie the 1995 Loan) was in the members’ interests but, having regard to the facts, I consider that such a belief is so unreasonable it cannot be sustained as honest in respect of a person who of is aware and appreciates his fiduciary duties.

 AUTONUM 
Finally, I have looked at the back drop to this case which I consider is relevant to whether a reasonable trustee would have held the belief that making the 1995 Loan was in the members’ interests.  By 1995 the recession was over – but the Company was still struggling – and the news and reaction to Robert Maxwell misappropriating hundreds of millions of pounds from his companies and their pension plans to finance his corporate expansion was well publicised to all persons whether pension trustees or otherwise.  

 AUTONUM 
In my judgment, it is this general blunting of their moral antennae, which explains why the Trustees had a lower standard of honesty as well as their recklessness for others’ rights.  They were reckless of the members’ right that they could expect the Trustees to take and heed advice in proposing to make the 1995 Loan.  An honest and reasonable person would have had regard for the circumstances known to him (see especially paragraph 77 to 79), including the nature and purpose of the proposed transaction (see especially paragraphs 80 and 88), the nature and importance of his roles and any conflicts of interests, the ordinary course of business, the practicability of proceeding otherwise (see especially paragraphs 75 and 92) and the seriousness of the adverse consequences to the beneficiaries (see especially paragraph 84).  I conclude, on the balance of probabilities, having regard to the evidence, that  the Trustees’ belief that making the 1995 Loan was in the members’ interests was so unreasonable that no reasonable trustee could have held such a belief.  I find that the Trustees’ belief was not honest in the sense explained above. 

Remedy

 AUTONUM 
Having found wilful default I next consider the remedy.  Counsel for Mr Harman raised the issue of quantum when I made my preliminary findings - although the amount then in question was considerably larger.  However, the principle of his submission remains and therefore I have considered it below.

 AUTONUM 
Counsel for Mr Harman submitted that where maladministration occasioning injustice has been found by me I may direct the Trustees to take such steps as I may specify but that “it is implicit that the steps in question must be calculated to provide an appropriate remedy for the injustice found to have been sustained by the complainant” (Westminster City Council v Haywood [1998] Ch 377 at 410 per Millett LJ).

 AUTONUM 
However, in Hillsdown Knox J held that where there is a continuing trust the remedy of a beneficiary under the trust which has payments made out of it in breach of trust is to have the trust fund restored.  Knox J held that it was proper for me to make a direction that assets be restored to the trust fund.

 AUTONUM 
Mr Harman’s counsel accepts that any remedy may take into account the other members of the Scheme (and not just the Complainant) and accepts that the complaint was classified in the alternative as a dispute of law.  But he suggests that regard should also be had to the Scheme’s funding and the amount I direct is restored to the fund.

 AUTONUM 
On the basis that I consider the question is a dispute of law and following the Hillsdown principle I do not agree with the submission.

DIRECTIONS

 AUTONUM 
I direct that the Trustees (jointly and severally liable) shall pay £83,579.53 to the Scheme, within 28 days from the date of this Determination, together with simple interest as from 9 June 1995.  

 AUTONUM 
In accordance with the Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) Regulations 1996 interest shall be calculated on a daily basis at the rate for the time being quoted by the reference banks.

DR JULIAN FARRAND

Pensions Ombudsman

28 August 2001
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